**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

JAMES ARMANDO CARD,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC06-1383

L. C. No. 81-518-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

On direct appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Bay County, Florida, that denied Card's amended motion to vacate and set aside his judgments of guilt and sentences, including a death sentence, filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

---

CLYDE M. TAYLOR, JR., ESQ.  
119 East Park Avenue  
Tallahassee, FL 32301  
Tel: 850.224.1191  
Fax: 850.224.0584  
FBN 0129747  
Court Appointed Counsel for

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS**

### Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida from a June 8, 2006 final order (Vol. III, R. 417-26) of the Circuit Court of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Bay County, Florida, denying Card's amended motion to vacate his judgments of conviction and sentences, including a death sentence, for the first-degree murder of Janis Franklin allegedly committed on June 3, 1981. (Vol. 1, R. 175)

### Jurisdiction:

The Supreme Court of Florida has jurisdiction to review the June 8, 2006 final order appealed from per the provisions of Article V, Section (4)(b), Florida Constitution, Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I) and Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850(g) and 3.851.

### Course of the Proceedings:

In 1981, Card was indicted by a Bay County, Florida, grand jury and charged with first-degree murder, robbery and kidnapping. (Vol. I, R. 1) After a jury trial, Card was found guilty on all counts as charged. On

January 28, 1982, at the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended death by a vote of 7-5, and the trial court sentenced Card to death. (Vol. I, R. 1, 2) Card appealed raising four issues: (1) The trial court erred by holding that certain statements by persons not connected to Card were inadmissible hearsay, (2) testimony from Card's mental health expert, Dr. James Hord, refuted the bases for the trial court's finding that the CCP aggravator was proven by the state, (3) the trial court gave improper, double consideration to facts regarding the state's contention that the homicide was committed for pecuniary gain and to avoid lawful arrest, and (4) the trial court failed to properly weigh the evidence of mitigation presented by Card's mental health expert. On direct appeal, the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed. *Card v. State*, 453 So. 2d 17 (1984). In June of 1986, Card filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in state court claiming that (1) the trial judge assigned to try Card was not authorized to do so<sup>1</sup> and (2) the trial judge erred in denying Card a pretrial competency evaluation. The petition was denied. *Card v. State*, 497 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1986).

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court determined that the proper procedures for the assignment of the trial judge were not followed, but that the error was harmless and not timely raised.

Thereafter, Card filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida claiming, among other things, that he was denied the right not to undergo criminal proceedings while incompetent. The petition was denied. On appeal, the Eleventh United States Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part, remanding for further proceedings.<sup>2</sup> *Card v. Dugger*, 911 F.2d 1494 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990). Upon remand, the District Court again denied Card habeas corpus relief. On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed, finding that the District Court was justified in denying Card an evidentiary hearing on the competency issue. *Card v. Singletary*, 963 F.2d 1440 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992). Card's petition for writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court of the United States was denied. *Card v. Singletary*, 114 S.Ct. 121 (1993).

On March 9, 1992, Card filed a successor Rule 3.851 motion for post conviction relief in the lower tribunal. (Vol. I, R. 2) The trial court, Hon. Deeded S. Costello, denied the motion and Card appealed to this Court. The trial court order was affirmed in part, denied in part and remanded for an

---

<sup>2</sup> The Eleventh Circuit remanded the cause to the District Court to let it "review the post-trial evidence presented by Card in support of his claim of incompetence, and to state the grounds, if any, for its denial of an evidentiary hearing on Card's competency to stand trial." *Card v. Singletary*, 963 F.2d at 1443.

evidentiary hearing. *Card v. State*, 652 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 1995). The remand related to the fact that the original sentencing judge allowed the prosecutor to prepare his sentencing order. The trial court vacated the defendant's death sentence and ordered a new penalty phase trial. (Vol. I, R. 3)

At the conclusion of the retrial of the penalty phase, the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of eleven to one. In imposing the death penalty, the trial court found five aggravating factors: (1) The murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a kidnapping; (2) the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; (3) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; (4) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel ("HAC"); and (5) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification ("CCP"). The trial court found no statutory mitigating factors, but did find seven nonstatutory mitigators: (1) Card's upbringing was "harsh and brutal" and his family background included an abusive stepfather (some weight); (2) Card has a good prison record (slight weight); (3) Card is a practicing Catholic and made efforts for other inmates to obtain religious services (some weight); (4)

Card was abused as a child (some weight); (5) Card served in the Army National Guard and received an honorable discharge (some weight); (6) Card has artistic ability (little weight); and (7) Card has corresponded with school children to deter them from being involved in crime (some weight). The trial court found that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances, and imposed the death sentence.

On appeal, Card raises twelve issues with regard to his death sentence:

(1) The state's penalty phase closing argument was fundamentally unfair; (2) the trial judge erred in not recusing herself; (3) the trial judge erred in finding and instructing the jury on four of the five aggravating circumstances; (4) the trial judge erred in failing to find proposed mitigating evidence and in failing to explain her weighing process; (5) the death penalty is disproportionate; (6) the trial court erred in deny the defense's motion to require a unanimous jury verdict; (7) the trial court erred in denying Card's request to give jurors an alternative instruction pertaining to CCP; (8) the trial court erred in using the standard jury instructions that referred to the jury as advisory and referred to their verdict as a recommendation; (9) the trial court erred in not allowing defense counsel to

question Card's family members about the effect Card's execution would have on their lives; (10) the CCP, HAC, murder committed-during-the course-of-a-felony, avoiding arrest, and pecuniary gain aggravators are unconstitutionally overbroad and vague, (11) the use of victim impact evidence violated Card's due process rights; and (12) the trial court erroneously precluded Card from introducing evidence that Card received life sentences for the robbery and kidnapping convictions. This Court rejected the appeal on the merits and affirmed the death sentence. *Card v. State*, 803 So. 2d 613 (2001).

A petition for writ of certiorari raising an *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) issue only was denied by the Supreme Court of the United States. On June 27, 2003, Card filed a motion to vacate and set aside the June 21, 1999 death sentence with attachments per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. (Vol. I, R. 1-53, 176) On April 1 or 2, 2003, Card filed an amended motion to vacate his death sentence with attachments. (Vol. I, R. 92-152, 176) Card raised nine issues in the amended Rule 3.851 motion. (Vol. I, R. 92-170, 178-195) They are referenced below.

On May 24, 2004, the state filed a response to the amended Rule 3.851 motion. (Vol. I, R. 175-196) <sup>3</sup>

After a *Huff* hearing conducted on December 14, 2005, an evidentiary hearing regarding Claims V and IX was held on April 21, 2006 before Judge Costello in Panama City. (Vol. III, R. 418)

Disposition in the Lower Tribunal:

On June 9, 2006, the trial court rendered a final order (Vol. III, R. 417-426) denying post conviction relief. In so doing, the trial court reached the following conclusions<sup>4</sup> as to each claim raised in the amended Rule 3.851 motion:

Claim I: Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional based upon *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) and *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 466 (2002). Claim denied because *Apprendi* and *Ring* are not to be applied retroactively. (Vol. III, R. 418)

---

<sup>3</sup> On or about May 21, 2004, Card filed a second supplemental motion for post conviction relief raising the claim that his death sentence was unconstitutional under *Ring v. Arizona*, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002). The state filed a response to this second supplement on or about December 8, 2005, citing *Schriro v. Summerlin*, 124 S.Ct. 2519 (2004) which held that Ring is not to be applied retroactively. See Vol. II, R. 317-18.

<sup>4</sup> Card merely summarizes the claims raised and the gist of the trial court's findings as to each claim.

Claim II: In light of *Apprendi* and *Ring*, Card was entitled to resentencing only by the original jury that sat regarding his first jury trial. Claim denied because, as noted in ruling on Claim I, *Apprendi* and *Ring* are not to be applied retroactively. Furthermore, Florida law provides for a new jury in a retrial of a penalty phase, and this procedure has not been declared unconstitutional by any court. (Vol. III, R. 418-19)

Claim III: Counsel was ineffective for not seeking a mistrial based upon allegedly improper closing argument of the prosecutor. Claim denied because it was previously rejected by the Supreme Court of Florida in *Card v. State*, 803 So. 2d at 622-23. (Vol. III, R. 419)

Claim IV: Counsel was ineffective for failing to enumerate statutory mitigators during closing argument and *Spencer* hearing. Claim denied because issue should have been but was not raised on direct appeal, citing *Buford v. State*, 403 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 1981). Furthermore, Florida law has a “catch-all” provision, Section 921.141(6)(h), Florida Statutes, which allows for the presentation of any relevant mitigating evidence to the jury and judge, which is what counsel did. (Vol. III, R. 419-20)

Claim V: Counsel was ineffective for recommending that Card not testify during the penalty phase retrial. Claim rejected after evidentiary

hearing. The Court found that Card was afforded an opportunity to attend the evidentiary hearing and testify, but specifically declined to do so. Thus, there was no evidence from him to support the claim. Card's trial counsel testified that he discussed the issue (of whether Card should testify) with him, recommending that he not do so due to what counsel perceived as impulsiveness and other problems. There was evidence in the record to support trial counsel's strategy. Under these circumstances, according to the trial court, no ineffectiveness or prejudice was established. (Vol. III, R. 420)

Claim VI: Counsel was ineffective for not raising an actual innocence claim and requesting DNA testing. Claim denied because defense counsel did file a motion for DNA testing per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853, which was denied on November 17, 2005. The court found that Card could not relitigate the issue in a post conviction motion. (Vol. III, R. 421)

Claim VII: Counsel was ineffective during *Spencer* hearing for failing to determine the views of the victim's daughter as to imposition of the death penalty. Claim rejected because there was no proof offered that the victim's daughter would have testified in Card's favor. Furthermore, the

daughter's testimony would not be relevant to the issue of whether to impose the death penalty, citing *Zant v. Stephens*, 462 U.S. 862 (1983). (Vol. III, R. 421, 422)

Claim VIII: Previously undisclosed (allegedly newly discovered) autopsy evidence pointing to Card's innocence but was not presented by defense counsel. The trial court found this claim to be conclusory and speculative. There was no showing that the alleged new evidence was in fact newly discovered. Claim rejected as facially deficient. (Vol. III, R. 422)

Claim IX: Counsel did not fully investigate Card's mental health situation at the time of the alleged homicide, and failed to present available, extant mental health mitigating evidence to the judge and jury during the penalty phase retrial. Furthermore, trial counsel used an unlicensed psychologist, Craig Haney, Ph. D., a California psychologist, who did not diagnose and was not qualified to review Card's mental health records and report on all mental health mitigation. The trial court rejected this claim finding that counsel had access to and studied "voluminous evidence" regarding Card's mental status including but not limited to Card's school, medical and military records. There was no proof of a failure to fully

investigate these matters by trial counsel. Furthermore, the claim that Dr. Haney was not qualified was procedurally barred since it was not raised on direct appeal, citing *Rodriguez v. State*, 919 So. 2d 1252 (Fla. 2005). There was no requirement that Dr. Haney be licensed in Florida in order to provide his opinion as an expert. Nor was there sufficient evidence to support Card's claim, through the testimony of Bill Mosman, Ph. D. (Card's retained mental health expert), that Card was mentally retarded at the time of the homicide or that he (Card) suffered from extreme mental disturbance in the context of Section 921.141(6)(b), Florida Statutes, at that time. If anything, the mental health records that Dr. Haney allegedly overlooked (or did not testify about) revealed that Card did not suffer from any brain damage but did reveal that he had an anti-social personality disorder, a fact that would not have helped him in the eyes of the jury and sentencing judge. Dr. Mosman's contention that Card had an emotional age that was less than his chronological age was refuted by the evidence that included the fact that Card had received a GED degree and completed three and one-half years of college. Finally, even if there had been some evidence of ineffectiveness (and there was no finding that there was), it would not have changed the outcome since the state proved beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of

five statutory aggravators under Section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes.

On July 28, 2006, Card timely filed a notice of appeal of the June 8, 2006 order that denied his post conviction motion to vacate his death sentence. (Vol. III, R. 436)

E. Statement of the Facts:

**Basic Facts of the Homicide**

The basic facts of the homicide are described by the Supreme Court of Florida in its original opinion that affirmed Card's judgments of conviction for first-degree murder, kidnapping and robbery:

On the afternoon of June 3, 1981, the Panama City Western Union office was robbed of approximately \$1,100. Blood was found in the office and the clerk, Janis Franklin, was missing. The following day, Mrs. Franklin's body was discovered beside a dirt road in a secluded area approximately eight miles from the Western Union office. Her blouse was torn, her fingers severely cut to the point of being almost severed and her throat had been cut.

As early as 6:30 on the morning of June 3, 1981, (Card) telephoned an acquaintance, Vicky Elrod, in Pensacola, Florida, and told her that he might be coming to see her to repay the \$50 or \$60 he owed her. At approximately 9:30 that night Vicky Elrod met with (Card). He took out a stack of twenty and one-hundred dollar bills and she asked if he had robbed a 7-Eleven store. He told her that he had robbed a Western Union station and killed the lady who worked there. He described scuffling with the victim, tearing her blouse and cutting her with his knife. He said he then took her in his car to a wooded area and

cut her throat saying, “Die, die, die.” Several days after their meeting, Vicky Elrod went to the police with this information. (Card) was then arrested.

*Card v. State*, 453 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1984); see also *Card v. State*, 803 So. 2d 613, 617 (Fla. 2001).

### **Mental Health Mitigation Testimony Presented at the First Penalty Phase Trial**

Dr. James Hord, a clinical psychologist, testified at Card’s first penalty phase trial. (Vol. IV, R. 1170) He saw Card three times in 1981 prior to the original trial in an effort to assist defense counsel. (Vol. IV, R. 1173, 1174) He obtained a life history from Card, administered the Rorschach ink blot test and an MMPI, among other psychological tests. (Vol. IV, R. 1175-1178) He found that Card was not insane when the crime occurred, that he was not psychotic or incompetent, but that he evidenced “a sociopathic personality adjustment pattern.” (Vol. IV, R. 1179) He said that it was characterized by a great deal of insecurity and “discord with the usual acceptable social mores.” (Vol. IV, R. 1179) People like Card are focused on ego-enhancing activities. (Vol. IV, R. 1180) He noted that Card would not react like a normal person to stress -- that he would be impulsive with

less ability to appreciate a concern for others. (Vol. IV, R. 1181, 1182)

Defense counsel then presented Dr. Hord with a hypothetical question based upon the facts of the case as presented by the prosecution. (Vol. IV, R. 1183-1186) Dr. Hord said that Card's mental condition at the time of the homicide would be ". . . something very much like panic." (Vol. IV, R. 1187) The doctor did not think that Card went into the Western Union office with the intention of killing the lady inside. (Vol. IV, R. 1189) Dr. Hord opined further that ". . . the actual decision to end her life or to kill her, I think, would have been a response to a feeling of panic, of not knowing how to get out of the situation that he now realized is a terrible situation to be in." (Vol. IV, R. 1192)

On cross-examination, Dr. Hord acknowledged that sociopaths "rarely" recognize that they have a personality problem and want to change. (Vol. IV, R. 1205) He said that Card could possibly have committed the crimes for money. (Vol. IV, R. 1207) He admitted that a large part of the people (sociopaths) he was discussing could be termed a "criminal element" of our society. (Vol. IV, R. 1208) In this case, there may well have been some planning involved. (Vol. IV, R. 1209) At some point in time, Card

knew that he had to kill the victim in order to avoid detection. (Vol. IV, R. 1210) When in prison in the future, he could react again as he reacted on June 3, 1981. (Vol. IV, R. 1213)

### **Synopsis of Evidence Presented and Findings Made at the Retrial of the Penalty Phase**

Card has described the claims raised in the amended Rule 3.851 motion for post conviction relief and the bases used by the trial court to reject them at the conclusion of the retrial of the penalty phase on pages 15-20 of this brief. What follows here are the findings of this Court regarding the evidence presented during that retrial.

This Court first noted that the basic facts of the case as set forth in *Card v. State*, 453 So. 2d 17, 18-19 (Fla. 1984) and as quoted on page 20, 21 of this brief, *supra*, were presented (more than likely by the state) at the retrial of the penalty phase. *Card v. State*, 803 So. 2d at 618. In addition:

At the resentencing proceeding, the prior testimony of the medical examiner, Dr. Edmund Kielman, who had performed the autopsy of Franklin, was read to the jury. According to Dr. Kielman's prior testimony, the victim suffered several defensive wounds and had a "very deep cut over her throat." The medical examiner stated that the wound to the victim's throat was approximately six or seven inches in length. The wound was also approximately two-and-one-half inches deep and almost went to the spinal cord. He opined that the perpetrator must have used a considerable amount of force in

inflicting the wound to the victim's throat and that the instrument utilized by the perpetrator had to be fairly sharp to go that deep. The medical examiner also observed that the victim had suffered extensive wounds to her hands. The medical expert testified that these were classic defense wounds caused by the person protecting him or herself from an attack.

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