IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES ARMANDO CARD, SR.,

Appellant

v.

Case No. SC06-1383

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General Pl-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State respectfully submits this is a classic case of postconviction second-guessing trial counsel. Trial counsel's handling of Card's 1999 penalty phase was imminently reasonable. Indeed, it is undisputed that he devoted hundreds of hours to Card's cause. He reviewed reports and boxes of materials and

explored various mental mitigation possibilities. And after carefully weighing the options, he decided to humanize the Defendant by calling family, friends, and clerics to testify, and to use an expert to integrate their humanization theme.

Postconviction counsel has found one expert who would testify that trial counsel should have done more. However, there is a danger that the path the new expert advocated would open the door to evidence of the Defendant's anti-social personality disorder and manipulativeness. The flimsy foundation for the new expert's hindsighted opinions belie the attack on trial counsel and support the trial court's well-reasoned and extensive order.

The trial court's findings of no deficient performance and no prejudice merit affirmance.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL AT THE 1999 PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDINGS WAS NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE? (RESTATED)

A. The order and its entitlement to deference concerning factual matters.

The trial court's well-reasoned and well-grounded order at issue is attached. (PC/III 417-26) The only claim on appeal is claim IX of Card's Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence (PC/I 92-170. Claim IX alleged ineffective assistance

of counsel related to mental mitigation that supposedly should have been presented at the 1999 penalty proceedings (PC/I 145-48, 163-70).

Since the trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on this matter, the trial court's factual determinations are entitled to special deference on appeal:

> Generally, this Court's standard of review following the denial of a postconviction claim where the trial court has conducted an evidentiary hearing affords deference to the trial court's factual findings. *McLin v. State*, 827 So. 2d 948, 954 n.4 (Fla. 2002). 'As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, "this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court."' *Blanco v. State*, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997) (quoting *Demps v. State*, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984)).

Walls v. State, 926 So. 2d 1156, 1165 (Fla. 2006).

Because of its entitlement to deference on factual matters and its extensive analyses and findings, the State quotes, at length, the portion of the trial court's Order pertaining to Claim IX of the postconviction motion:³

> ... Defendant claims that penalty phase counsel provided ineffective assistance in that counsel utilized the services of an unlicensed psychologist as opposed to a clinical psychologist, and failed to obtain the services of a neuropsychologist.

³ It is interesting to note that the Initial Brief is devoid of any detailed discussion of the Order itself even though it is the Order that is being appealed.

Defendant claims that Dr. Craig Haney, a Ph.D. and professor of psychology at University of California, Santa Cruz, the defense expert who testified at the penalty phase trial, was not qualified to review the extensive medical evidence in the case. Dr. Bill Mosman, a forensic psychologist and member of the Florida Bar, testified on Defendant's behalf at the April 21, 2006 evidentiary hearing held on this issue.

Defendant has not established that penalty phase counsel was ineffective in his investigation of Defendant's mental health mitigation. Counsel had access to the entire circuit court file, and reviewed voluminous evidence including medical, military, and school records, affidavits of family members, and previous psychological evaluation reports. Counsel hired Dr. Haney to present expert testimony, who was recommended to him by his mitigation expert and who he independently researched through the internet. Defendant did not present any evidence or testimony to establish that penalty phase counsel failed to perform a thorough investigation in preparing Defendant's mental health mitigation. Furthermore, the fact that Defendant's new counsel would have hired a different expert witness or presented the evidence differently does not show that previous counsel's performance was ineffective. See State v. Coney, 845 So.2d 120, 136 (Fla. 2003); Mills v. Moore, 786 So.2d 532, 535 (Fla. 2001). Nor is counsel's reasonable mental health investigation and presentation of evidence rendered ineffective simply because Defendant has now obtained the testimony of a more favorable expert. See Rivera v. State, 859 So.2d 495, 504 (Fla. 2003); Cooper v. State, 856 So.2d 969, 976 n.5 (Fla. 2003). Finally, the Court notes that Defendant refused to be evaluated by his own expert for these proceedings. Therefore, to the extent that he raises a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to secure additional psychological testing or evaluation beyond that contained in the record, he has not shown prejudice because [he] has not established that he would have cooperated in any such new testing.

To the extent that Defendant challenges the competency of Dr. Haney to have appeared as an

expert mental health witness, the Court first notes that any claim of an incompetent mental health evaluation is procedurally barred because Defendant did not raise such claims on direct appeal. See Rodriguez v. State, 919 So.2d 1252, 1267 (Fla. 2005). Furthermore, Defendant does not have a federal constitutional right to an effective mental health expert, and there is no constitutional rule regarding ineffective assistance of an expert witness. See Wilson v. Greene, 155 F.3d 396, 401 (4th Cir. 1998); Silagy v. Peters, 905 F.2d 986, 1013 n.22 (7th Cir. 1990).

The U.S. Supreme Court case of Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), "requires that a defendant have access to a 'competent psychiatrist who will conduct an appropriate examination and assist in evaluation, preparation, and presentation of the defense.'" See Walls v. State, - So.2d-,2006 WL 300665 (February 9, 2006)[926 So.2d 1156]. However, defendant failed to provide the Court with any authority for his contention that the mental health expert must hold a particular degree or conduct a certain type of evaluation. Although Dr. Haney was not a licensed psychologist, he held a Ph.D., studied 'psychological issues and their relation to the legal system, ' and specialized in the area of applying psychological principals to various lawrelated questions. He was provided with and reviewed voluminous documentation including medical, military, and school records of Defendant (including evaluations conducted close in time to the murders) and affidavits, and he interviewed others who knew Defendant. Considering the totality of the circumstances, including Defendant's apparent reluctance to assist expert mental health witnesses, Dr. Haney's evaluation 'was competent because it certainly was not so grossly insufficient as to ignore clear indications of either mental retardation or organic brain damage.' Gorby v. State, 819 So.2d 664, 680 (Fla. 2002) (internal quotation omitted).

*** * ***⁴

The trial court also addressed Card's IQ scores:

Defendant argues that Dr. Mosman showed that the medical records available to penalty phase counsel contained information sufficient to establish two statutory mitigators. First, Defendant claims there was information to show that Defendant committed the homicide while under extreme emotional disturbance, Fl. Stat. § 921.141(6)(b). It appears Defendant is arguing that counsel/Dr. Haney should have presented evidence to show that Defendant had a neurological

The Defendant complains that Dr. Haney did not present to the jury Dr. Mosman's finding that Defendant received an IQ score of 83 in October 1959 and of 78 in 1961 which, Dr. Mosman felt, might support a diagnosis of mental retardation by today's standards. However, IO score is not the only factor in mental retardation, and Dr. Mosman did not address any of the factors concerning adaptive functioning set forth in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203(b) and Fla. Stat. §921.137. Further, this argument ignores the fact that Defendant's medical records contained evidence to show that Defendant was not mentally retarded, including higher IQ test scores. See Defense Exhibit 10, at p. 15 ("Mr. Card achieved a verbal IQ of 92 and a Performance IQ of 102. His full scale IQ is 96... These scores are within the average range..."); Defense Exhibit 12 at p. 1 ("Mr. Card is functioning in the average range of intellectual ability, therefore any past or present thinking processes or behavior patterns cannot be attributed to retardation"); Defense Exhibit 26 at p. 4 ("Card completed his high school education while incarcerated at the Susanville, California, forestry camp. He also has two years of college at Modesto Junior College, which he obtained while incarcerated"); Defense Exhibit 11 at p. 1 ("He did not finish high school, but has a GED Degree. Surprisingly, he has also had three and a half years of college, majoring in architecture and pre-law."). Finally, the Court notes that Dr. Mosman himself testified that he was not opining that Defendant was mentally retarded. Defendant has never before claimed mental retardation or filed a motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim.P.3.203.

disorder or head injury, that he suffered from personality disorders, specifically schizophrenia, and that he suffered from alcohol abuse. The record does not support Defendant's contention that the extreme emotional disturbance mitigator was present. See Defense Exhibit 11 at p. 2 ('There is no evidence that [Defendant] was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.'). With regard to the neurological disorder/head injury, there was information in the record that refutes this assertion. Dr. Mosman cited affidavits submitted by Dr. Haney and Dr. McClaren; however, these affidavits simply stated that brain damage was possible and asked for more time to conduct additional testing. Medical records in the file supported the conclusion that Defendant did not have a brain injury. See Defense Exhibit 21 at p. 1, 9('Neurological examination is essentially normal,' 'No intracranial abnormalities are seen,' see also 'brain scan' in this exhibit (negative)). As for personality disorders, the record contained evidence that Defendant did not suffer from schizophrenia, but rather, had anti-social personality disorder. See Defense Exhibit 11 at p. 1 ('[N]o indication of paranoid schizophrenia, only **anti-social personality** disorder'); Defense Exhibit 12 at p. 1 ('It is my opinion Mr. Card demonstrates a sociopathic personality and behavior pattern.'). This information would not have helped Defendant, as the Courts have held that there is a significant difference between a mental disease and a mental disorder. Patton v. State, 878 So.2d 368, 375-76 (Fla. 2004) (collecting cases); see also Elledge v. State, 706 So.2d 1340, 1346 (Fla. 1997) (affirming death sentence where trial court denied statutory mental health mitigator based on the expert testimony that defendant had **antisocial personality** disorder and found that such disorder is not a mental illness, but a life long history of a person who makes bad choices in life, and that these choices are conscious and volitional). Finally, with regard to alcohol abuse, the record contained an evaluation report wherein a doctor wrote, 'Partial VA records indicate that the Defendant has had alcohol blackouts in the past. I initially thought this was very important since he may later allege amnesia during the murder. Mr. Card however

continues to deny any mental aberration and sticks to his alibi defense; he specifically continues to deny he had more than two beers and several joints the morning of the alleged murder.' See Defense Exhibit 11 at p. 1. Additionally, Defendant claimed that he was not involved in the murder, and any argument regarding the effects of alcohol on Defendant's commission of murder would have been contrary to the theory presented by the defense at trail.

The second statutory mitigator that Defendant claims counsel/Dr. Haney should have been able to show through his medical records is that his emotional age at the time of the homicide was less than his chronological age, Fl. Stat. § 921.141(6)(q). However, Defendant was 34 years old at the time of the offense. The Florida Supreme Court has held that trial courts may reject age as a mitigating factor where the defendants 'were twenty to twenty-five years old at the time their offenses were committed and there is no showing of immaturity or a comparatively low emotional age.' Brown v. State, 721 So.2d 274, 281 (Fla. 1998)(internal quotation omitted) (citing Scull v. State, 533 So.2d 1137, 1143 (Fla. 1988) (noting that defendant's age of twenty-four will not establish mitigator absent other evidence indicating defendant's low emotional age). Defendant claims, and Dr. Mosman testified, that Defendant was socially, emotionally, and intellectually immature and that his mental age was therefore less that his chronological age. However, Dr. Mosman did not test Defendant, and, as outlined above, some tests showed Defendant had an average IQ, Defendant had completed a GED and three and onehalf years of college, and there was no evidence that he suffered from a head injury or neurological problems. Further, Dr. Mosman did not testify as to what he believed Defendant's mental age to be, and the Florida Supreme Court has upheld a death sentence on a person with a mental age as young as 13. Alston v. State, 723 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1998) (citing Remeta v. State, 522 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1988)).

Finally, the Court finds that, even if these mitigating factors had been shown to be present, Defendant cannot show prejudice from counsel's failure to establish them, as the Court found five statutory aggravating factors, including the heinous, atrocious, or cruel ("HAC") aggravator and the cool, calculated, and premeditated aggravator ("CCP"). See Alston, 723 So.2d at 148 (upholding death sentence where trail court found five aggravators, including HAC and CCP, despite its finding of several non-statutory mitigators).

In light of the foregoing, Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding his mental health mitigation evidence is due to be denied.

(PC/III 417-25)

B. Deference to trial counsel's reasoned judgment.

In addition to the deference attached to the trial court's factual determinations, trial counsel's judgment is entitled to deference, rather than hindsighted second-guessing. As Card correctly concedes (IB 38), his burden is "heavy."

Recently, <u>Dillbeck v. State</u>, No. FSC# SC05-1561 (Fla. May 10, 2007), summarized the standard of appellate review concerning claims of ineffective assistance of counsel:

> We review claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under the standard set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). As we stated in *Wike v. State*, 813 So. 2d 12, 17 (Fla. 2002), this standard requires a defendant to establish...:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.

Id. (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687); see also Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 1998).

* * *

To establish deficient performance under Strickland, 'the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness' based on 'prevailing professional norms.' 466 U.S. at 688; Wike, 813 So. 2d at 17. 'A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time.' Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

Here, not only was the trial court's Order solidly grounded on the record and law, but also, trial counsel's performance was imminently reasonable. Even armed with "distorting effects of hindsight," Card's postconviction motion and this appeal fail to establish that any course of action would have been better than the one counsel chose. Indeed, one might ask if, instead of humanizing the Defendant, trial counsel had chosen to put Card's disturbed psyche at issue in the penalty phase, as Dr. Mosman advocated, the postconviction issue would be second-guessing that decision.

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